QATAR UNIVERSITY

COLLEGE OF HEALTH SCIENCES

PATIENT FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ADHERENCE AND CHANGE IN CARDIAC

RISK FACTORS AMONG CARDIAC REHABILITATION PATIENTS IN QATAR

BY

RAHMA AHMED ABDELAZIM SAAD

A Thesis Submitted to

the Faculty of the College of Health Sciences

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Masters of Science in Public Health

January 2020

© 2020 Rahma Ahmed Abdulazim Saad. All Rights Reserved.

COMMITTEE PAGE

The members of the Committee approve the Thesis of Rahma Ahmed Abdelazim Saad defended on 04/12/2019.

Dr. Karam Turk-Adawi Thesis/Dissertation Supervisor

DR. Mohammed Alhashemi Thesis/Dissertation Co. Supervisor

Approved:

Asma Al-Thani, Dean, College of Health Science

ABSTRACT

SAAD, RAHMA, ABDELAZIM., Masters of Science : January : 2020, Public Health Title:_PATIENT FACTORS ASSOCIAED with ADHERENCE and CHANGE in CARDIAC RISK FACTORS AMONG CARDIAC REHABILITATION PATIENTS in QATAR

Supervisor of Thesis: Karam, Adawi and Mohammed, Alhashemi

Background: cardiovascular disease is the number one killer in Qatar. Cardiac rehabilitation (CR) is a cost-effective model of care shown to reduce cardiovascular morbidity and mortality by 20%. However, it is vastly underutilized with low enrollment and adherence rates. This study aimed to (a) examine the association between number of sessions attended and change in cardiac risk factors after completion of CR program, and (b) investigate factors associated with adherence

Methods: This is a retrospective cohort study, consisted of 714 cardiac patients, aged ≥ 18 years, referred to a cardiac rehabilitation program in Qatar. A simple linear regression analysis (unadjusted model) was used to assess the association between the mean change in each of the following risk factors: cholestrol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and body mass index (BMI and number of sessions attended. Then, we adjusted for clinical and sociodemographic factors that affect the outcome variable via multiple linear regression analyses. Logistic regression model was used to assess factors associated with adherence. Additionally, a paired sample t-test was used to identify mean change in cardiac risk factors pre-post CR and link this change to clinical significant cut off values in the literature. An independent

sample t-test was used to identify change between groups (adherence vs. no adherence). **Result:** The mean age of the population was 52.7 ± 10.1 years (mean \pm SD). Patients referred to CR program were mostly males (n= 641, 89.8%) and non-Qatari (n= 596, 83.5%), almost one fourth were smokers (n=185, 25.91%), and one fifth (n=128, 18.8%) were diagnosed with severe depression. The main positive predictor for adherence was AACVPR moderate risk [OR=12.71, 95%CI= 7.81-20.68] and high-risk level [OR=10, 95%CI= 6.44-17.44]. PCI [OR=0.39, 95%CI= 0.17-0.89] and musculoskeletal disease [OR=0.17, 95%CI= 0.03-0.95] were negatively associated with adherence. We found clinically significant improvements among adherents to CR; 10% reduction in total cholesterol level and 15% reduction in low-density lipoproteins. **Conclusion:** This study provides new insights in Qatar setting into the factors that lead patients to adhere to their CR sessions. These patient-level variables associated with adherence represent opportunities for program directors in identifying patients who are less likely to adhere to the program; therefore, develope effective interventions to target these patients and consequently improve their health status.

Keywords: Cardiovascular disease, Cardiac rehabilitation, Adherence

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this work to my beloved parents, Ahmed and Abeer and my siblings, Sarah, Marwa, Yumna, Abdulrahman, Abdulla, Omar, and Amr

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my heartfelt gratefulness to my supervisor Dr. Karam Turk-Adawi for her dedication, guidance, and support throughout this journey. A special appreciation for Dr. Mohammed Al-Hashemi, the head of cardiac rehabilitation program, Mr. Theodoros program manager of Cardiac rehabilitation, Mr. Hira, and Ms. Darlene; information managers at heart hospital, Mr. Daniel and Dr. Rajvir Singh for their support and facilitation to conduct this study. To my great supporters; my friends. The undeniable spirit between us, the laughter, and memorable moments that I will never forget. Thank you for being there for me. Thank you for encouraging and supporting each step I took in this challenging experience. A genuine thanks to Basma Hosney, Aisha Mohamed, Asma Syed, Saba Elhag, Amna Idrees, and Abeer Hamdan, for sharing this experience and living these better sweet years together. I am SO proud of us. My volunteering team OType, I can't thank them enough for caring and supporting me continously. Last but not least, I would like to thank the great Racha zarzour, lead health coach, and jij baba, my great colleagues, for their endless support and encouragement. Finally, and most importantly, I would like to convey my sincere gratitude for my number one supporter, my family. I wouldn't have reached this stage without them. Peering the pressure would be so hard without their support, kind words and prayers. Thank you for believing in me, for your help, for your encouragement and patience throughout these years. You have always had my back, watched me grow up intelligently and responsibly so here come the day when I can show the results of your investment. I will always make you proud.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSvi
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST OF FIGURESxi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
CHAPTER 3: STUDY OBJECTIVES15
3.1 Objectives
3.2 Research questions 16
3.3 Hypothesis 16
CHAPTER 4: METHODS17
4.1 Study design 17
4.2 Data collection methods 17
4.3 Measurements17
4.3.1 Defining cut off value for adherence 19
4.3.2 American Association of Cardiovascular Pulmonary Rehabilitation
(AACVPR) risk category
4.3.3 Cardiac depression scale

4.3.4 Metabolic equivalent task (MET)	22
4.4 Statistical analysis	23
4.5 Ethical Approval	26
4.6 Research Significance and Implications	27
CHAPTER5: RESULTS	29
5.1 Patients Characteristics	30
5.2 Patients Characteristics Associated with Adherence	33
5.3 Patient characteristics associated with adherence [Univ	variate logistic
regression]	
5.4 Patient characteristics associated with adherence [Multiva	ariable logistic
regression]- Adjusted model	41
5.5 Adherence association with change in risk factors from p	ore to post CR
program	43
CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION	
6.1 Patient adherence	52
6.2 Change in CVD risk factors	55
6.3 Strength and limitations	56
CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION	58
7.1 Recommendation and research implications	58
REFERENCES	60

APPENDIX	67
Appendix A: HMC IRB Approval	67
Appendix B: Heart hospital Approval	68
Appendix C: Qatar university IRB Approval	69
Appendix D: AACVPR Criteria	70
Appendix E: MET Levels	71

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Study Dependent (Outcome) and Independent Variables
Table 2 Types Of Study Variables
Table 3 Summary description for Number of sessions attended
Table 4 Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristic of Study Population [Referred
Patients] at Baseline (N=714)
Table 5 Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristic of Patients at Baseline by
Adherence (N=682)
Table 6 Univariate logistic regression analysis of Adherence (dependent variable). The
Crude association between Adherence and potential patients' factors40
Table 7 Multivariable Logistic Regression to Determine Predictors of Adherence
(Adjusted Association)
Table 8 Change in Clinical Measures Among Adherent group
Table 9 Change in Clinical Measures Among Adherent group
Table 10 Mean Change between Adherent and Non-adherent group45
Table 11 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in BMI (adjusted
and unadjusted models)
Table 12 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in Cholesterol
(adjusted and unadjusted models)
Table 13 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in HDL (adjusted
and unadjusted models)
Table 14 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in LDL (adjusted
and unadjusted models)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Logistic regression analysis	
Figure 2 Study Flowchart showing the number of patients who were refer	ed, enrolled
and adhered to the CR	29
Figure 3 Distribution of CR sessions attended by patients	30

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is "the name given to a group of disorders affecting the body's arteries, which may lead to heart attack, stroke, or angina" (1). In addition to the high CVD mortality rate, this disease imposes tremendous pressure on healthcare resources because individuals with ongoing heart conditions need ongoing medical assistance. CVD significantly affects the quality of life for those who suffer from this condition, while also reducing their life expectancy (2). Around the globe, (CVD) is considered killer number one (3). According to the Qatar health strategy 2017 and WHO report, 17.7 million people died due to CVDs, which is equal to 31% of all deaths around the world (2, 4). Most of these deaths (7.4 million) were due to coronary heart disease, and 6.7 million deaths were due to stroke (2). Unfortunately, this number is expected to increase to 23.6 million by 2030 (5).

In the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR), CVD is the leading cause of disability, accounting for 9.2% of total disability adjusted life years (DALYs) (6). Whereas in Qatar, non-communicable diseases(NCDs) are estimated to account for 69% of all deaths having CVD in the lead, with 27% of mortality, followed by 16% of other NCDs and 16% cancer (7). Furthermore, CVD in Qatar is considered the number one cause of death from NCDs (2). With this consistency of the CVD burden, countries need to implement prevention strategies to manage it and contain the increased mortality rates.

One crucial and essential strategy adopted is the Cardiac Rehabilitation (CR) program. CR identified as a "comprehensive Secondary prevention program that is medically supervised and designed to improve the physical and emotional condition of patients with heart disease" (8). The program is considered a cost-effective model of

care that reduces cardiovascular mortality and morbidity by 20% and encourages a commitment to regular exercise and healthy habits for risk factor modification to establish lifelong cardiovascular fitness (9). According to Hammill and colleagues, there is a strong dose-response relationship between the number of sessions attended and the long-term outcome of CVD. Not only that, but attending all of the 36 sessions entitled by the program resulted in risk reduction in death and myocardial infarction (10). Though the CR program is recommended for patients recovery as different studies established due to its benefit, participation of eligible patients in the program is low such as in Canada with a 20% participation rate and 14% in middle-income countries (11).

Despite all the benefits of the CR program documented in literature, adherence rates are suboptimal(12). In Qatar, there is only one CR program with lack of research on the factors associated with adherence. Only one qualitative study explored reasons for nonattendance to the CR program without identifying the possible factors associated with adherence(13). Hence, this study aimed to (a) identify patients' factors associated with adherence (attending more than or equal to the median number of sessions) to cardiac rehabilitation, (b)explore factors associated with adherence to the median number of sessions non adherence and the mean change in cardiac risk factors from pre to post enrollment in CR program.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs), known as chronic diseases, are characterized by a long duration and small disease progression. NCDs' five main types are cardiovascular diseases (CVD), e.g. (coronary heart disease and stroke), type 2 diabetes, cancer, respiratory diseases, and mental disorders (5). CVD is the leading among non-communicable diseases, and it is considered the number one killer worldwide(4). Furthermore, over three-quarters of CVD deaths take place in low- and middle-income countries (14).

CVD is defined as a "group of disorders of heart and blood vessels which includes, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease, rheumatic heart disease, and congenital heart disease" (14). In the year 2015, 17.7 million people died due to CVDs, which is equal to 31% of all deaths around the world (1). Most of these deaths (7.4 million) were due to coronary heart disease, and 6.7 million deaths were due to stroke (2). Unfortunately, This number is expected to increase to 23.6 million by 2030 (5).

In the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR), the situation could not be better. CVD mortality in the EMR, mostly attributable to ischemic heart disease, is expected to increase dramatically in the next decade higher than any other region except Africa (6). Approximately 58.4% of total deaths in the EMR were attributable to NCDs in 2015, with the primary cause being CVD (27.4% of total deaths) (6, 15). According to the same study, the author identified that the most prominent CVD risk factors in the EMR include tobacco consumption, physical inactivity, depression, obesity, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus (6).

Within the EMR region, Gulf countries (GCC) have a history of high NCDs,

including obesity, diabetes, and, most importantly, CVD. Supporting evidence was reported in a systematic review of the Prevalence of cardiovascular disease in the Gulf region (16). The study stated that, due to the rapid growth of socioeconomic status in the GCC countries, lifestyle changed noticeably in terms of fast food consumption and the adoption of sedentary behaviors (16). Thus, the rate of CVD and associated risk factors increased, and it exceeded the rate of the developed country(16). Besides, the number of deaths resulting from ischemic heart disease and hypertensive heart disease in the Middle East (including the GCC countries) was 294/100,000, whereas the number of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) resulting from ischemic and hypertensive heart disease is 3702/100,000 (16). In Oman and Kuwait, the estimated number of death reached (49%) and (46%), respectively, which means almost half of the death in both countries was caused by CVD (3, 16). The rate of CVD deaths was also high in the region with Saudi Arabia (42%), UAE (38%), Bahrain (32%), and Qatar 23% (3, 16).

Glancing at the situation here in Qatar, CVD is considered The number one cause of death from non-communicable diseases, as found in other high-income countries (2). Adding to this, in one of Benner's studies, he stated that CVD had been the leading cause of morbidity and mortality for over 20 years (17). If we tried to dig more into the reasons for such a high CVD prevalence rate, we would find various reasons. In recent decades, Qatar has been home to one of the most rapidly growing populations. Since 2002, the population of 275,325 Qatari citizens and 1,9 million expatriates (non-Qatari residents) has risen from 750,000 to around 2,5 million (2). Secondly, and finally, the rapid development of infrastructure played a major role in changing behaviors and lifestyles of the people, leaning more towards unhealthy choices, which over time led to the development of NCDs such as diabetes, obesity, hypertension, and many other diseases (2, 18).

One crucial point to consider is that between the years 2011 and 2013, CVD mortality was 8.3 per 100,000 for Qatari males and 4.1 per 100,000 for non-Qatari males aged 20-44 years. However, after the age of 45, CVD mortality rose significantly to 247 per 100,000 among Qatari males (2). According to Qatar public health strategy 2017-2022, the prevalence of having three or more cardiovascular risk factors was 44.9% among the age 18-64 and 70.4% among the age 45-64 (2). Risk factors include High body mass index, High blood pressure and high fasting plasma glucose (1, 2)

Risk factors could be classified into two groups, modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors. The modifiable risk factors include physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol use, hypertension, obesity, diabetes, and low intake of fruit and vegetables (1). As for non-modifiable factors, it includes age, ethnicity, family history, and socioeconomic status. As the person advances in age, he becomes more at risk of developing CVD.

Moreover, the risk of getting a stroke doubles after the age of 55. Also, having a low socioeconomic status accompanied by stressful life and having depression or anxiety increases the risk of heart disease and stroke (1). Even though there are many risk factors associated with coronary heart disease and stroke, a person will not develop CVD if he has only one risk factor. The more risk factors the person has, the higher the likelihood that he will develop CVD (1). As CVD requires a continual supportspecifically people who suffer from ongoing heart condition- and may affect the overall quality of life (1), policy makers in Qatar realized the need to mitigate the problem of high CVD rate by developing strategies with a primary goal to promote healthy behaviors in order to reduce controllable risk factors and also to develop an effective screening programs that identify people who are most at risk(2). Thus, one of the secondary preventions done in Qatar for patients who suffer from heart diseases is the cardiac rehabilitation program.

Before tackling the situation in Qatar, it is essential to have a holistic understanding of how cardiac rehabilitation started. Over the last four decades, CR has advanced from a simple monitoring program that helps patients return to their regular physical activity, to more of a multidisciplinary secondary prevention program, which included various components that can affect patients' outcomes. These components are the following: patient assessment, nutritional counseling, physical activity counseling, weight management, smoking cessation, blood pressure management, and lipid management (8, 19). Back in the 1930s, myocardial infarction (MI) patients were advised to take six weeks of bed rest. Then, they were advised to take a short daily walk of 3-5 minutes after coronary events by four weeks (19). Even though this proved to be effective, there was a concern regarding patient safety due to unsupervised exercise(20). Hence, this concern leads to the development of a more structured, physiciansupervised rehabilitation program (20) that can help patients optimize their functional health (19).

By the 1950s, Hellerstein presented his comprehensive multidisciplinary procedure for the rehabilitation of patients recovering from an acute cardiac event(21). His approach was adopted worldwide and has been recommended as an indispensable therapeutic tool in modern cardiology by most cardiovascular professional societies(19, 22, 23). Even though his approach resulted in excellent outcomes for patients, his approach was not translated in a tremendous commendation by the cardiology community, and it was not improved significantly. However, due to changing patient

demographics and advanced medical technology, many more patients now have the opportunity to receive the benefits offered by cardiac rehabilitation (20).

Cardiac rehabilitation (CR) is defined as a "Comprehensive exercise, education, and behavior modification program designed to improve the physical and emotional condition of patients with heart disease", another definition presented by the American Heart Association is that "Cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention services are comprehensive, long term programs involving medical evaluation, prescribed exercise, cardiac risk factor modification, education, and counselling. These programs are designed to limit the physiological and psychological effects of cardiac illness, reduce the risk for sudden death or re-infarction, control cardiac symptoms, stabilize or reverse the atherosclerotic process, and enhance the psychosocial and vocational status of selected patients" (8).

The primary goal of the CR program is to enable patients to achieve optimal physical, psychological, social, and vocational functioning through exercise training and lifestyle changes (24). The short term goals of such programs are classified in shortand long-term goals. The Short-term goals reflect "reconditioning" the patient sufficiently enough, allowing him to resume customary activities, decrease the risk of sudden cardiac arrest, or reinfarction and finally help control the symptoms of cardiac disease. The long-term goals consist of identification and treatment of risk factors, stabilizing the atherosclerotic process, and enhancing the psychological status of the patients (24).

In Qatar, there is only one CR program that was developed in July 2013 (24). Patients who are eligible to be enrolled in this program are those who have, myocardial infarction, coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG), percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA/PCI), heart or a heart-lung transplant, and heart failure (25). They are advised to enroll by the inpatient cardiac rehab staff at the hospital, which is phase I, where they get an assessment along with education on risk factors and a discharge plan. In phase II (outpatient), referred patients go through a structured program including physical exercise to improve CVD fitness, education about heart disease as well as counseling on how to stabilize or reverse heart disease by improving the risk factors. The last stage is stage III, consisting of a maintenance program held in the community (not in the cardiac center), not yet available in Qatar (24).

Once patients are referred to the CR program in a heart hospital, the healthcare team contacts them to book an appointment for an initial assessment. Based on the program protocol, the period between referral initiation and patient enrollment (waiting time) should not exceed 60 days (26). Initial assessment includes six different procedures as prescribed in the hospital protocol:

- 1. Clinical history of Cardiovascular, physical activity, vocational, musculoskeletal, and psychosocial status.
- 2. Adherence to medication, self-monitoring, smoking status
- 3. Physical examination, including vital signs, electrocardiogram (ECG), BMI, waist circumferences (WC), waist to hip ratio, heart failure signs, cardiac, and neurological abnormalities.
- 4. Assessment of routine testing, including full blood count, fasting blood sugar, HbA1c, total cholesterol, LDL, and HDL.
- 5. "Exercise capacity which includes symptom-limited exercise testing, either on the treadmill or bicycle ergometer."
- 6. "Nutrition assessment where healthcare team reviews medical and dietary

history, eating patterns measured by food frequency questionnaire and 24-

hour recall method, anthropometric measurements, and behavioral patterns."

Formerly, as the initial assessment is done and the patient's results are in, risk level (low, moderate, high) will be determined based on a combination score of patient's cardiac and metabolic fitness. After patients are classified, the goals of rehabilitation are discussed and agreed on, and the patient can take a written plan of his goal. The cardiac rehabilitation program duration is three months. Based on evidence reported by literature, 36 exercises can result in significant positive changes in exercise capacity, cardiovascular risk factors, and quality of life(26, 27). Worldwide CR programs do not prescribe CR sessions and that cardiac patients are allowed to take up to 36 sessions or more depending on their health condition and coverage by a health insurance company. Some programs give sessions over 12 months and others 3-6 months with 3-5 sessions per week depending on their capacity (28). In Qatar, the same protocol is followed. After identification of the risk level for each patients and based on guideline recomendation, a direct supervision of the exercise should occur for at least 6-18 sessions for low risk, for those with moderate risk, direct supervision should occur for at least 12 to 24 sessions and high-risk patients should be monitored for at least 18 to 36 exercise sessions (29). Furthermore, patients can take more sessions as long as it is safe to remove the ECG monitoring during exercise. Differences and variability in provided CR services were explained in a recent study published in the Lancet Journal. The study indicated that since the CR program is a multi-component and complex intervention, the nature of the services provided may vary widely across programs (30).

At discharge, the patient will have a final assessment where physical activity level, vital signs, blood testing is checked, as well as a return to work- whether the patient is in good condition to pursue his previous work (26).

Attending the CR session was proved to be effective. Several meta-analyses were conducted to identify the effectiveness of cardiac rehabilitation. Studies showed that, among patients with coronary heart disease, exercise-based CR reduces hospitalization by a mean of 31%, cardiac mortality by a mean of 20%, and all-cause mortality by a mean of 19% (9). Another meta-analysis showed that participation in the CR program reduces risk factors of CVD and decreases mortality and morbidity (10). Philip and colleagues (2009) stated that participation in CR leads to a 13% (HR, 0.88; 95% CI, 0.83–0.93) to 24% (HR, 0.77; 95% CI, 0.69–0.87) reduction in mortality over 1 to 3 years, in addition to a reduction in rehospitalization by 31% (HR, 0.69; 95% CI, 0.58–0.81) (31) The most important benefit is the increase in physical function and quality of life. However, with all of the evidence that CR is effective, still, CR services are grossly underutilized with low adherence rates (32). It is essential to identify what could be the factors mediating the suboptimal use of these programs; whether it is due to the low availability of CR services, provider factors, or related to patient factors.

Based on a study done by Turk-Adawi and colleagues (2014) on the global availability of CR, the CR program was poorly implemented globally. Only 38.8% of the world's countries have CR programs. Precisely, 68.0% of high-income countries and 23.0% of low- and middle-income countries, (28.2% for middle- and 8.3% for low-income countries) (33). The aurhors concluded that low availability of the program contributes to its underutilization worldwide (33). Moreover, three interrelated factors were reported in the literature to be associated with CR underutilization; these include: patient, provider, and system (32, 34, 35). Within the global context, Qatar, has only one CR program similar to the global trend of low availability. However, there is no

study that has explored the program's utilization in terms of adherence to the program, taking into consideration that it is free for elligable patients.

Patients factors associated with adherence to CR program were reported in one of the studies that aimed at identifying patient and organizational factors that keep patients in the program. Several CR facilities (n=38) were surveyed, and 4412 records of patients enrolled were included in the study. The study showed that patients over the age of 65 years, classified as high-risk category (based on classification of American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation AACVPR), receiving coronary artery bypass grafting (GABG), and diagnosed with diabetes were significantly associated with increase in adherence to the CR program (32). Organizational factors were offering relaxation training and individual and group diet classes (32). Another study on enrollment showed that enrollment rate was 30% among a cohort of (n=6874) patients. Factors associated with patient enrollment in the program were undergoing CABG and having health insurance (34). In Qatar, there is a lack of research on the program's utilization and factors associated with its utilization and whether these factors are similar to those in literature.

Furthermore, a systematic review of factors associated with attending cardiac rehabilitation revealed that older patients with lower income and suffering from depressive symptoms were less likely to attend their sessions. The authors suggested that the best way to encourage patients to attend is to address the misconception about the program, show how effective it is, and engage physicians to recommend it (36).

To improve patients utilization of a beneficial program, such as CR program, it is crucial that healthcare providers, program directors and policy makers are aware of barriers faced by patients that prevent them from using the offered services effeciantly. A qualitative study conducted in Qatar looked at the reasons for not attending the program (13). The most common reasons highlighted by patients were: exercising at home, work commitment, transportation, no need for rehabilitation, family responsibility and finally a preference to take care of their health alone (13). Building on these results, there is a need for a quantitative baseline study to explore adherence to CR and to identify patient factors associated with it. Findings of such study is expected to inform policy makers about CR situation and interven in the best possible way to improve adherence rate and consequently patients health.

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions to promote patient's utilization of the CR program concluded that several interventions could increase enrollment, adherence, and completion rates of CR sessions. Face to face delivery by healthcare providers was recommended to increase enrollment, while offering unsupervised CR sessions would promote adherence considerably (37).

Patients always look for the benefits gain from any program attended. It was proved that adhering to CR is related to the magnitude of clinical benefits. Hammill and colleague's study focused on the relationship between cardiac rehabilitation and longterm risk of death and myocardial infarction among elderly Medicare patients ≥ 65 living in the United States (10). Thirty thousand one hundred sixty-one elderly patients were included between the first of January 2000 to 31 December 2005. They were interested in the exposure to cardiac sessions given in 3 categories, i.e 36, 24,12 sessions. They found that those who attended 36 sessions had a 14% lower risk of death (HR,0.86 95% CI 0.77–0.97) compared to patients who attended 24 sessions, a 22% lower risk of death compared to those who attended 12 sessions (HR, 0.78; 95% CI, 0.71–0.87) and a 47% lower risk of death compared to patients who attended 1 session only. Thus, this shows that there is a dose-response relationship between the number of CR sessions attended and patients long-term outcomes. Moreover, it shows how attending more sessions is associated with a lower risk of death compared to attending fewer sessions (10).

A recent study tackled the improvement of secondary prevention measures among cardiac rehabilitation patients; specifically among males and female to understand if there is a gender disparity (38). The results showed significant improvement in total cholesterol level, diastolic blood pressure, and HbA1c. A 10% reduction were observed in cholesterol level as well as LDL. These changes were proved to be clinically significant in reducing the risk of coronary heart disease. A systematic review and meta-analysis showed that having a reduction of 10% in cholesterol level is associated with a 15% reduction in risk of coronary heart disease(39). Another meta-analysis reported a 7.2% reduction in risk of coronary heart disease deaths and 4.4% total deaths if a reduction of 10% of LDL was found (40).

While having evidence of the benefit of CR sessions, the service is still underutilized, and there is lower enrollment, referral, and adhered rate. Thus, it is essential to explore the situation from different contexts and settings.

Multiple studies have been done on factors associated with enrollment and adherence to CR in addition to change cardiac risk factors pre-post the program. Recommendation from these studies suggested to identify patient characteristics associated with uptake and adherence to cardiac rehabilitation in different countries. With the high rate of CVD in Qatar, adhering to CR programs is crucial in this context and studying the related factors will contribute to the improvement CR services and thus patients' clinical outcomes. Since there are no studies done in Qatar on either of these topics, the current study aimed to fill this gap and address patient factors related to adherence and its association with change in risk factors.

CHAPTER 3: STUDY OBJECTIVES

3.1 Objectives

- 1. To describe the characteristics of patients participated in the program
- 2. To identify patients factors associated with adherence to CR program and patient sociodemographic and clinical factors including age, gender, nationality, tobacco use, patients indications (mentioned above), depression, exercise capacity (MET), comorbid conditions such as diabetes miletus (DM), hypertension (HTN), back pain, and musculoskeletal disease. Other patient factors to be assessed are BMI, SBP, cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and glucose (HbA1c) for patients with diabetes
- 3. To examine the relationship between number of sessions attended, and the mean change in cardiac risk factors (Cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI)
- 4. To examine the relationship between adherence, and the mean change in cardiac risk factors (Cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI) after completion of CR program and identify clinically significant clinical measures

3.2 Research questions

This study is based on three research questions:

- What is the relationship between patient factors and patient adherence to the CR program in Qatar?
- Is there a relationship between adherence to CR and the mean change in cardiac risk factors (SBP, cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI) from pre to post CR program?
- 3. Is there a relationship between number of sessions attended and the change in cardiac risk factors (Cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI) after completion of CR program?

3.3 Hypothesis

- 1. There is a relationship between patient's sociodemographic and clinical factors and patient adherence to a CR program
- 2. There is a positive relationship between number of CR sessions attended and improvement in the level of cardiac risk factors at program discharge (post-program)
- 3. Adhering to CR sessions is associated with the change in CVD risk factors at program discharge

CHAPTER 4: METHODS

4.1 Study design

Based on our study objectives, the second and third objectives were achievable through a cross sectional study, based on patients' records, i.e.secondary data), while the fourth objective achieved through retrospective cohort study. Our study cohort included all patients aged 18 years and over who were referred to a cardiac rehabilitation program in Qatar.

4.2 Data collection methods

The study is based on a secondary dataset collected by the CR professionals in the cardiac rehabilitation program and entered in their internal system. We extracted these data for patients from the inception of the program from January 2013 to September 2018. The data included sociodemographic variables and clinical and behavioral measures that were collected at patient entry (pre-CR) and patient discharge from the program (post-CR). Patients who did not attend the first session of the program (non-enrolled) did not have data post the program. Hence, only their data at baseline were available to use for analysis. Our total sample size was 714 patients.

4.3 Measurements

The study had 2 dependent variables (outcomes) (a) adherence [defined as attending more than or equal to the median number of CR sessions attended by the entire cohort], (b) change in cardiac risk factors (blood pressure, cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI), which defined as the difference between post to pre values of a clinical factor. Baseline values of these factors were measured at the start of the program and at the program discharge. Therefore, patients were followed up from the start of the program to program completion, when they have a formal re-assessment for discharged.

The independent variables for our first outcome, adherence, were patient factors that have been documented in the literature to affect adherence to CR. These variables included: age; gender (male, female); nationality (Qatari, non-Qatari); tobacco use (smoker, non-smoker); American Association of Cardiovascular Pulmonary Rehabilitation (AACVPR) risk category (low, moderate, high); history of depression defined as[not depressed, mild-moderate depression, severe depression], CR indications including heart failure (HF), angina, valve replacement (VR), valve disease, AMI, CAD, CABG, and PCI; comorbid conditions: diabetes mellitus, hypertension, back pain, and musculoskeletal disease; and cardiac risk factors: HDL, LDL, cholesterol, SBP, and BMI.

The independent variables for our third outcome, which is the change in cardiac risk factors after completion of the program, was adherence, i.e., attending more than or equal to the median number of CR sessions [median number =22] (Table 1 We also examined the effect of adherence to the program on change of risk factors in terms of number of sessions attended as a count variable.

Dependent (Outcome)	Independent variables
variables	
 Adherence (Yes, No) [Attending ≥ median number of CR sessions attended which was 22] 	 Age Gender Nationality Smoking (Yes, No) History of depression (Not depressed, mild-moderate depression, severe depression) Exercise capacity (MET) Comorbidities [diabetes (Yes, No), HTN (Yes, No), back pain (Yes, No), musculoskeletal disease (Yes, No)] Indications: heart failure (HF), angina, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), valve disease valve replacement (VR), acute myocardial infarction (AMI), and coronary artery disease (CAD)]
Change in cardiac risk factors pre-post CR (Cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI)	 Variable of interest: Adherence [Attending more than or equal to the median number of sessions] Variable of interest: Number of CR sessions attended

Table 1 Study Dependent (Outcome) and Independent Variables

4.3.1 Defining cut off value for adherence

Prior to justification of using a cut off value of the median number of sessions, it is essential to underline that there is no standard definition for adherence-in terms of number of sessions attended- to CR programs worldwide due to the wide variation in length of program (duration) and the number of sessions taken by patients. Thus, different studies that investigated adherence used the median number of sessions of their own cohort as a cut off value since patients can attend a range of sessions, ideally 36 sessions in North America or more depending on patient condition and whether CR services are covered by a health insurance company (8). Identifying the cut off value in our study was solely based on similar approach used by these published studies (10, 32, 41, 42). Hence, we followed the same approach and identified the cut off value based on the median number of CR sessions attended by the entire cohort of patients in our study. Interestingly, the median number of sessions of our study (22 sessions) was comparable to those in literature, i.e. 21- 26 sessions (10, 32, 41, 42). Hence, we followed what found in literature and we choose the median number of sessions from our own cohort as other studies did.

It is important to clarify that number of sessions taken by patients is not related to patient risk level. Stratifying patients into low, moderate, and high risk is based on certain criteria (Appendix D) to assess patient safety while exercising. For example, CR staff prescribe the appropriate exercise *intensity* for each individual based on patient's level of risk, and for this purpose cardiac risk stratification is critical to patient safety.

Cardiac risk stratification is used to assess patient safety before enrolment in the program, i.e. it is employed to predict complications during exercise. (29). It mainly assesses the probability of the occurrence of "cardiac arrest" as a criterion to decide if a patient is at high risk for cardiac events during exercise (29)

4.3.2 American Association of Cardiovascular Pulmonary Rehabilitation (AACVPR) risk category.

A key element of exercise safety is stratification of patients according to risk for acute cardiovascular complications during exercise. There are different methods used for risk stratification, the one used in CR program in Qatar is called AACVPR risk category, which classifies the risk of cardiac events during exercise into [Low, moderate, and high risk]. Classification of risk is based on specific criteria attached in (Appendix D). According to guidelines and protocols, it is necessary to prescribe the appropriate exercise intensity for patients so they can be able to obtain the beneficial effects of the program while ensuring safety during physical exercises.

Cardiac risk stratification means careful evaluation of the clinical and functional status of the patient, starting with clinical history and physical, laboratory and ancillary tests. This procedure provides indications for the appropriate targeting of the patient throughout the rehabilitation process and the extent of direct staff supervision while exercising.

Therefore, the identification of risk level is an integral part of the management of patients. For individuals classified as low risk for participating in exercise, the guideline recommends that *direct supervision of the exercise* should occur for at least 30 days post cardiac event or 6-18 sessions. For those with moderate risk, direct supervision should occur for at least 60 days post cardiac event or 12 to 24 sessions and high-risk patients should be monitored for at least 90 days or 18 to 36 exercise sessions.

4.3.3 Cardiac depression scale

In our study, we had depression in terms of scores. Thus, for the purpose of the analysis, we categorized the scale to 3 categories (not depressed, mild-moderate depression, severe depression) based on the cut off value found in the literature(43). Patients with depression score less than 90 were considered not depressed, 90-<100 were considered mild-moderate depression, ≥ 100 considered with severe depression(43). This scale was validated to be used in research.

A study conducted to validate CDS scales in UK population. The CDS scale was mailed to 487 individuals with coronary heart disease who were recruited from cardiac rehabilitation support group. Then, the process was repeated on subsample of 80 participants four-six weeks later for the purpose of test-retest analysis. Response rate was 81% and the test retest sample 54% response rate. The Factor analysis revealed a one-factor solution with a high internal reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.93$) and an acceptable test-retest reliability (0.79). The study concluded that, CDS is both a reliable and sensitive instrument for measuring depression in cardiac patients and that using CDS will be an excellent measure for studies of outcome in cardiac patients (44). Additionally, wise and colleagues reported the reliability and validity of CDS cut of scores in which a cut off >100 indicate severe depression with 88% sensitivity and 84% specificity, score of 90 indicate mild-moderate depression with 84% sensitivity 78% specificity (43)

4.3.4 Metabolic equivalent task (MET)

Exercise capacity is assessed by different exercise tests [treadmill Bruce (METs), cycle ergometer (Watts), cardiopulmonary exercise test (VO_{2PEAK}), 6-min walk test (meters)] (26). In this study MET was the used test for patients. MET is identified as "The maximum ability of the cardiovascular system to deliver oxygen to exercising skeletal muscle and of the exercising muscle to extract oxygen from the blood, the oxygen expenditure at rest (> 3.5 mL/min/kg body weight)" (45). Additionally, MET has different levels that is associated with the level of activity patients can tolerate. For example, patients with a MET level of 6.5 can do exercise without a limit while patient with 1.5 MET will be unable to carry out activities without discomfort. These levels are used as a reference point during cardiac rehabilitation. Patients who have had a heart attack or who have undergone open heart surgery are assisted to gradually return to normal activity levels, using MET levels as a guide to ensure that activity does not exceed what the patient's heart can tolerate (46). More information about MET is attached in the (Appendix E).

4.4 Statistical analysis

Prior to analyzing this dataset, various methods were employed to check for any potential errors in the data. Missing values for each variable were also assessed. The only two variables that had missing data were, Cardiac depression scale (4% missing) and Musckelotal disease (4% missing). Thus, no data imputation were needed. In order to prepare data for analysis, data were cleaned and coded using STATA software. To achieve the first study objective, measure the proportion and describe the characteristics of patients who adhered to the CR program, descriptive analyses were performed and presented as percentages for categorical variables, or means and standard deviations for continuous variables. The variables used in the study are shown in Table 2.

For the second objective, to investigate patient factors associated with adherence, a logistic regression analysis was performed. initially, the purposeful selection method was followed. First, univariate analysis was conducted to detect variables in our data that were potentially associated with the outcome. For categorical variables with more than two levels, Wald statistics p-values were used to assess overall significance. The following independent variables were used separately to predict the odd of adherence in the univariate logistic regression analysis: age, gender, nationality, tobacco smoking, AACVPR risk category, patients indications (PCI, CABG, CAD, AMI, valvular replacement), comorbidities including depression, diabetes, HTN, and back pain exercise capacity (MET), BMI, SBP, cholesterol, LDL, and HDL. Each of these variables were tested one at a time against the outcome (adherence).

Second, clinically significant well-established variables in the literature and those with a p-value < 0.25 produced by the univariate analysis were included in the initial full model. Using p-value of 0.25 was important as a more traditional levels such as 0.05 can fail in identifying variables known to be important.(47). Excluded variables

were gender, BMI, LDL, depression, AMI, heart failure, valve replacement, angina, valve disease, and HTN. After removing these variables, we obtained our "initial full" model.

After including all variables with p-values less than 0.25[first step] in a full model, we conducted the regression analysis and dropped all variables with p-values greater than .05 (p>0.05). The only variables that remained in our model were risk level, PCI, CABG, musculoskeletal disease, and this formed the simpler model. To indicate which model is the best to predict adherence factors, a likelihood ratio test was used to decide whether the full model or the simpler model is a better fit. The likelihood ratio (LR)=11.41, had p-value=0.32 indicating that the simple model is a better fit. Hence, we kept the simpler model and proceeded the analysis with it.

The third step was to adjust for confounders by using $\Delta\beta$ equation in which any of the remaining covariates who got a change ($\Delta\beta$ >20%) were brought back to the model and removed one by one to see their confounding effect. Since the remaining covariate all had a change <20% and no change were spotted when we brought back covariate one at a time that was discarded from the univariate model, we kept our simpler model, which included risk level, PCI, CABG, and musculoskeletal disease. Age and gender are well known potential confounder we brought them back in our final adjusted model.

To achieve the third objective, to examine the relationship between number of sessions attended and change in cardiac risk factors (Cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI), a multiple linear regression was conducted. First, we presented univariate analysis (unadjusted model) then we started to adjust for patients' variables that is well known in literature to be associated with the outcome. By doing this we were able to

examine the difference in each model and whether adjusting for certain variables will affect the change in the outcome. 4 models were presented for each risk factor and we calculated % change in coefficient to easily notice the change in each adjusted model compared to the unadjusted one. (Change= β in the unadjusted model- β in new model), (%change= change÷ β in the unadjusted modelx100). Any variable added and had a change of 20% or more is considered a confounder.

To achieve the fourth and final objective of this study, to explore the relationship between number of sessions attended and the mean change in cardiac risk factors (SBP, cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and BMI) from pre to post CR program), for each of the outcome variable, we determined apriori the independent variables (from literature and those of clinical importance that affect each outcome). Then, we conducted a simple linear regression (unadjusted model) to identify the association between the change of each of these risk factors and number of sessions attended independently. Then, we conducted multiple linear regression analyses (several adjusted models), where other clinical and demographic independent variables were added one by one to the initial unadjust model.

Additionally, a paired sample t-test was performed[dependent t-test] for each clinical measure. All assumptions were tested before running the test. These assumptions included: the dependent variable was continuous, and the outcome was normally distributed.

Once we found the mean change (post clinical measure value minus pre-clinical measure value) for each of the clinical measures, we tested the mean difference between
groups (adherence, non-adherence) using an independent sample t-test. All statistical

analysis was performed using STATA software version 16.

Table 2 Types Of Study Variables

Types of variable	Variables included in the study
	Age (years)
	Exercise capacity (MET)
	Systolic blood pressure (SBP) mmol/L
Continuous	Body mass index (BMI) Kg/m ²
Variables	Cholesterol (mmol/L)
	Low-density lipoprotein (LDL)
	High-density lipoprotein (HDL)
	Exercise capacity (MET)
	Gender (Male, Female)
	Nationality (Qatari, Non-Qatari)
	Smoking status
Categorical	History of depression (not depressed, mild-moderate, severe
variables	depression)
	AACVPR risk category (low, moderate, high)
	CR indications [PCI, CABG, CAD, AMI, angina, valve
	disease, valve replacement, and heart failure]
	Comorbidities [diabetes mellitus, hypertension, back pain,
	musculoskeletal disease]

4.5 Ethical Approval

The study was approved by IRB at Hamad Medical Corporation [MRC-01-18-430]

Heart Hospital and Institutional Review Committee from Qatar university [QU-IRB

1039-E/19]

4.6 Research Significance and Implications

Cardiac rehabilitation is a cost-effective model of care shown to reduce cardiovascular mortality and morbidity by 20%(9). Based on an existing meta-analysis, participation in a cardiac rehabilitation program reduces risk factors of CVD and decreases mortality and morbidity of the disease(10, 31). However, despite all the benefits documented, cardiac rehabilitation is still underutilized, and the adherence rate is meager (12). Considering CR in Qatar, there is only one qualitative study that explored reasons for nonattendance to the CR program without identifying what the possible factors associated to adhere to the program, or what are the factors associated with enrollment (12) are. Hence, it is essential to conduct this research to investigate possible factors associated with enrollment and adherence to serve as a guideline for policymakers and program directors. This will enable them to identify where is the gab and improve patient adherence, which will lead to improvement in patient's quality of life, CVD risk factors, and make the program tailored to patient's needs.



Figure 1 Logistic regression analysis

CHAPTER5: RESULTS

Over the study period, 2013-2018, a total of 714 patients were referred to the CR program. Of whom 682 (95.5%) patients enrolled in the program, i.e., attended at least one session (Figure 2). This graph represents the number of those patients' records who were entered in the system at the program level, there could be patients who referred but the CR staff did not enter as the patients did not show up at the program.



Figure 2 Study Flowchart showing the number of patients who were referred, enrolled and adhered to the CR



Figure 3 Distribution of CR sessions attended by patients

Table 3 Summary description for Number of sessions attended

Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum
20.5	22	5	67

5.1 Patients Characteristics

Table 4 shows the characteristics of patients who were referred to the CR program (N=714) between January 2013 and September 2018. The majority of the patients were males (n= 641, 89.8%) and non-Qatari (n= 596,83.5%). The mean age of our study population was 52.7 ± 10.1 years (mean \pm SD). About one-fourth of the referred patients were smokers (n=185, 25.91%). Among our cohort, 128 patients

(18.8%) were diagnosed with severe depression while 74 patients (10.9%) were diagnosed with mild-moderate depression.

Further, PCI was the most common CR indication (n=442, 61.9%) among the study's population. Patients diagnosed with CAD represented (41.2%) of our cohort and about one-fifth (n=154, 21.6%) of the patients had undergone CABG. Of the referred patients, 291 (40.8%) had AMI. Less than 5% of the population had the following CR indications: angina (n= 12, 1.7%), heart failure (n=28, 3.9%), valve replacement (n=28, 3.4%), and valve disease (n=24, 3.4%).

Considering comorbidities, hypertension was the most prevalent comorbid condition among our patients (n= 322, 45.1%) followed by diabetes (n=301, 42.2%). Only 3.9% (n=28) of the patients had back pain, and 3.1% had a musculoskeletal disease. Means and standard deviations of baseline clinical measures were as following: HDL:1.30±0.94mmol/L, LDL:1.98±1.03 mmol/L, cholesterol: 3.73±1.17 mmol/L, BMI: 29.60±9.68 mmol/L, exercise capacity: 9.29±3.17 MET, and SBP: 128.80±17.9 mmHg (Table 3).

Table 4 Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristic of Study Population [Referred

Patients] at Baseline (N=714)

Patients Characteristics	N (%)		
Age (years) Mean+SD	52 7+10 1		
Gender	52.7±10.1		
Male	641(89.8)		
Female	73(10.2)		
Nationality	/3(10.2)		
Oatari	118(16.5)		
Non-Oatari	596(83.5)		
Smoking	570(05.5)		
Smoker	185(25.9)		
Non-smoker	529(74.1)		
History of depression*	329(711)		
Not depressed	480(67.23)		
Mild-moderate depression	74(10.36)		
Severe depression	128(17.93)		
AACVPR Bisk Category	120(17.55)		
Low	208(29.1)		
Moderate	263(25.1)		
High	202(30.7) 244(34.2)		
Indications	244(34.2)		
PCI			
Ves	442(61.9)		
No	272(38.1)		
Coronary artery disease	272(30.1)		
Ves	294(41,2)		
No	420(58.8)		
Myocardial infarction	420(30.0)		
Ves	291(40.8)		
No	423(59.2)		
CABG	125(59.2)		
Yes	154(21.6)		
No	560(78.4)		
Heart failure			
Yes	28(3.9)		
No	686(96.1)		
Valve replacement			
Yes	28(3.9)		
No	686(96.1)		
Valve disease			
Yes	24(3.4)		
No	690(96.6)		
AACVPR, American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Re	ehabilitation; PCI, Percutaneous		

Patients Characteristics	N (%)
Indications	
Angina	
Yes	12(1.7)
No	702(98.3)
Comorbid conditions	
HTN	
Yes	322(45.1)
No	392(54.9)
Diabetes mellitus	
Yes	301(42.2)
No	413(57.8)
Back pain	
Yes	28(3.9)
No	686(96.1)
Musculoskeletal diseases*	
Yes	21(2.9)
No	661(92.6)
Clinical measures	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg) (Mean±SD)	128.80 ± 17.9
BMI (Kg/m ²) (Mean±SD)	29.60±9.68
Exercise capacity (MET)	9.29±3.17
Cholesterol (mmol/L) (Mean±SD)	3.73±1.17
LDL (mmol/L) (Mean±SD)	1.98 ± 1.03
HDL (mmol/L) (Mean±SD)	1.30±0.94

AACVPR, American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; CR, cardiac rehabilitation. HTN, hypertension. LDL, low-density lipoprotein. HDL, high-density lipoprotein. PCI, Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. CABG, Coronary artery bypass grafting SD, standard deviation. (%) given for categorical variables. * missing

5.2 Patients Characteristics Associated with Adherence

Patient sociodemographic and clinical characteristics by adherence are presented in Table 5. Patients in the adherent group were older $(54.05\pm10.0 \text{ years})$ compared to non-adherent (51.1 ± 9.8) . The majority of adherents were males (91.0%), non-smokers (79.1%), and without depression (71.5%). Almost half (49.7%) of the adherents had moderate AACVPR risk. For indications, 58.7% of the adherents had PCI, 52.3% diagnosed as CAD, and 37.5% diagnosed as AMI. The adherents were less

likely to have angina (1.5%), heart failure (4.1%), valve replacement (4.1%), and valve disease (3.5%).

Considering the non-adherent group, PCI (70.1%), CAD (44.4%), and AMI (36.7%) were also the most common CR indications. With the highlight that patients undergoing PCI were the highest compared to adherent patients. Patients undergoing CABG represented only (17.2%). Angina (0.95%), heart failure (3.25%), valve replacement (3.55%), and valve disease (2.96%) were the least common indication among the non-adherent group

The results also showed that (44.19%) patients had diabetes among adherent group compared to (55.81%) nondiabetic. The non-adherent group had (36.98%) diabetic patients compared to (63.02%) nondiabetic. Whereas HTN patients represented (45.35%) in the adherent group compared to (54.65%) not hypertensive. The non-adherent group had (43.20%) of hypertensive patients and (56.80%) non-hypertensive. Back pain and musculoskeletal disease were the least common comorbidities among both groups. In which adhered patients with back pain represented (1.45%) compared to (6.21%) of non-adhered patients having back pain. As for musculoskeletal disease, (1.45%) of adhered patients had it compared to (5.03%) non adhered patients without musculoskeletal disease.

Finally, Clinical measures at baseline were almost similar in both groups except for a minor difference in some of the measures. Mean HDL among adherent group was (1.06 ± 0.31) compared to (1.05 ± 1.28) among non-adherent groups. AS for LDL, nonadherent group had slightly higher HDL mean (2.02 ± 1.14) compared to adherent group LDL mean (1.95 ± 0.93) . The cholesterol level among adhered patients was (3.66 ± 1.09) compared to (3.81 ± 1.26) among non-adhered group. Adhered patients had higher SBP mean (130.35 \pm 18.65) than non-adhered group (126.89 \pm 17.06). Last measure we have was BMI (kg/m²). Mean BMI did not differ in both groups. Adherent patients had a mean BMI of (29.18 \pm 5.36) compared to (28.83 \pm 5.02) in non-adherent group.

Characteristics	Adherent (N=344,	Nonadherent (N=338,
	50.44%)	49.5%)
	n (%)/ Mean±SD	n (%)/ Mean±SD
Age	54.05±10.00	51.1±9.77
Gender		
Male	313(91.0)	300(88.8)
Female	31(9.0)	38(11.2)
Nationality		
Qatari	40(11.6)	65(19.2)
Non-Qatari	304(88.4)	273(80.8)
Smoking	. ,	
Smoker	72(20.9)	103(30.5)
Non-smoker	272(79.1)	235(69.5)
History of depression		
Not depressed	246(71.5)	234(69.2)
Mild-moderate	35(10.2)	39(11.5)
Severe	63(18.3)	65(19.2)
AACVPR Risk		
Category		
Low	29(8.4)	174(51.5)
Moderate	171(49.7)	81(24.0)
High	144(41.9)	83(24.6)
Indications	. ,	
PCI		
Yes	202(58.7)	237(70.1)
No	142(41.3)	101(29.9)
CABG		
Yes	89(25.9)	58(17.2)
No	255(74.1)	280(82.8)
Myocardial infarction		
Yes	129(37.5)	124(36.7)
No	215(62.5)	214(63.3)
Angina		
Yes	5(1.4)	2(0.9)
No	339(98.5)	208(99.0)
Heart failure		
Yes	14(4.1)	11(3.2)
No	330(95.9)	327(96.7)

Table 5 Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristic of Patients at Baseline by Adherence (N=682)

Characteristics	Adherent (<i>N=344</i> , 50.44%)	Nonadherent (N=338, 49.5%)
	n (%)/ Mean±SD	n (%)/ Mean±SD
Indications		
Valve replacement		
Yes	14(4.1)	12(3.5)
No	330(95.9)	326(96.4)
Valve disease		
Yes	12(3.5)	10(3.0)
No	332(96.5)	328(97.0)
Coronary artery disease		
Yes	183(53.2)	150(44.4)
No	161(46.8)	188(55.6)
Comorbid conditions		
Diabetes mellitus		
Yes	152(44.2)	125(37.0)
No	192(55.8)	213(63.0)
HTN		
Yes	156(45.3)	146(43.2)
No	188(54.6)	192(56.8)
Back pain		
Yes	5(1.45)	21(6.21)
No	339(98.55)	317(93.79)
Musckelotal diseases		
Yes	5(1.4)	17(5.0)
No	339(98.5)	321(95.0)
Clinical measures	· · · ·	~ /
HDL (mmol/L)	1.06 ± 0.31	1.05 ± 1.28
LDL (mmol/L)	1.95 ± 0.93	$2.02{\pm}1.14$
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.66±1.09	3.81±1.26
Systolic blood pressure	130.35±18.65	126.89 ± 17.06
(mmHg)		
Exercise capacity (MET)	8.9±3.4	$9.7{\pm}2.7$
Body mass index (Kg/m ²)	29.18±5.36	28.83±5.02

P-value<0.001 and 0.05 is considered significant. OR, Odd ratio; CI, Confidence interval. AACVPR, American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; CR, cardiac rehabilitation. HTN, hypertension. LDL, low-density lipoprotein. HDL, low-density lipoprotein. PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention. CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting

5.3 Patient characteristics associated with adherence [Univariate logistic regression]

Table 6 shows the crude association between adherence and potential patient factors, the following factors were significantly associated with adherence: age (p<0.001), nationality (p=0.006), risk level (p<0.001), smoking (p=0.01), PCI (p<0.001), CABG (p=0.01), CAD (p=0.021), DM with borderline significant result (p=0.05), back pain (p<0.001), musculoskeletal disease (p=0.013), SPB (p=0.01), and HDL (p<0.001). Age was positively associated with adherence [OR=1.02, 95%CI= 1.01-1.05], i.e., for every one-year increase in age, the odds of being adherent increased by (2%), without adjusting for other variables. Compared to Qatari, non-Qatari patients were 81% more likely to adhere [OR=1.81, 95% CI=1.18-2.77]. As for the risk category, the odd of being adhered to the CR program among the moderate-risk group [OR=12.67, 95%CI=7.89-20.34] was 12.67 times the odd of adhering compared to the low-risk group. Additionally, the odd of adhering among the high-risk group [OR=10.41, 95%CI=6.46-16.77] was 10.41 times the odd of adhering compared to the low-risk group. Further, the odd of adherence were 40% less among smokers compared to non-smoker patients. The results also revealed that the odd of adhering to CR decreased by 39% among patients with PCI indications compared to those without PCI. On the other hand, the odd of being adhered to the program among patients who had CABG increased by 68% [OR=1.68, 95%CI=1.16-2.44] compared to patients without CABG. Similarly, the odd of adhering to CR increased by 42% [OR=1.42, 95%CI=1.05-1.93] in patients with CAD compared to those without CAD.

For comorbid conditions, the odd of adhering to CR among diabetic patients increased by 35% [OR=1.35, 95%CI=0.99-1.83] compared to non-diabetic patients. The odd of adhering to CR among patients with back pain decreased by 78% [OR=0.22, 95% CI=0.07-0.60] compared to those without back pain, whereas the odd of adherence among patients with musculoskeletal disease decreased by 72% [OR=0.28, 95% CI=0.10-0.76] compared to those without the musculoskeletal disease. The result also showed that for each one (mmHg) increase in SBP, the odd of adherence increased by 1% [OR=1.01, 95% CI=1.00-1.02]. Finally, for each one unit (mmol/L) increase in HDL the odd of being adherent to CR decreased by 60% [OR=0.40, 95% CI=0.29-0.54].

Variables	OR	95%CI		P-value	
Age	1.02	1.01	1.05	<0.001	
Gender					
Female	Ref				
Male	1.28	0.78	2.11	0.34	
Nationality					
Qatari	Ref				
Non-Qatari	1.81	1.18	2.77	0.006	
AACVPR Risk Category					
Low risk	Ref				
Moderate risk	12.67	7.89	20.34	<0.001	
High risk	10.41	6.46	16.77	<0.001	
Cardiac Depression Scale (CDS)					
No depression	Ref				
Moderate-mild depression	0.85	0.52	1.39	0.53	
Severe depression	0.92	0.62	1.36	0.68	
Smoking					
No	Ref				
Yes	0.60	0.43	0.86	0.01	
Indications					
PCI					
No	Ref				
Yes	0.61	0.44	0.83	<0.001	
CABG					
No	Ref				
Yes	1.68	1.16	2.44	0.01	
Coronary artery disease					
No	Ref				
Yes	1.42	1.05	1.93	0.021	
Myocardial infarction					
No	Ref				
Yes	1.04	0.76	1.41	0.83	
Heart failure					
No	Ref				
Yes	1.26	0.56	2.82	0.57	
Valve replacement					
No	Ref				
Yes	1.15	0.53	2.53	0.72	
Angina					
No	Ref				
Yes	1 53	0.29	7 98	0.61	
Valve disease	1.55	0.27		0.01	
No	Ref				
Yes	1.19	0.51	2.78	0.70	

Table 6 Univariate logistic regression analysis of Adherence (dependent variable). The Crude association between Adherence and potential patients' factors.

Variables	OR	95%	CI	P-value
Comorbid Conditions				
Diabetes mellitus				
No	Ref			
Yes	1.35	0.99	1.83	0.05
HTN				
No	Ref			
Yes	1.09	0.81	1.48	0.57
Back pain				
No	Ref			
Yes	0.22	0.07	0.60	<0.001
Musculoskeletal disease				
No	Ref			
Yes	0.28	0.10	0.76	0.013
Body mass index (Kg/m ²)	1.01	0.98	1.04	0.381
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.01	1.00	1.02	0.01
LDL (mmol/L)	0.94	0.81	1.08	0.38
HDL (mmol/L)	0.40	0.29	0.54	<0.001
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	0.90	0.79	1.03	0.12

P-value<0.001 and 0.05 is considered significant. OR, Odd ratio; CI, Confidence interval. AACVPR, American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; CR, cardiac rehabilitation. HTN, hypertension. LDL, low-density lipoprotein. HDL, low-density lipoprotein. PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention. CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting

5.4 Patient characteristics associated with adherence [Multivariable logistic regression]- Adjusted model

Results of the adjusted multivariable regression model presented in Table 7. Our final model had three patients' factors significantly associated with adherence, which were AACVPR risk (p<0.001), PCI (p=0.03), and musculoskeletal disease (p=0.05). Compared to patients with low AACVPR risk, patients with moderate risk were almost 13 times more likely to adhere [OR=12.71, 95%CI=7.81-20.68], while patients with high risk were almost 11 times more likely to adhere [OR=10.60, 95%CI=6.44-17.44]. The results of the adjusted model also showed that patients with PCI were 61% less likely to adhere [OR=0.39, 95%CI=0.17-0.89] compared to those without PCI.

The same negative association was found among patients with musculoskeletal

disease, who were 83% [OR=0.17, 95%CI=0.03-0.95] less likely to adhere compared to those without musculoskeletal disease.

Since we did not find any confounding factors to bring back in our simpler model, we decided to bring clinical variables that shown to be well-known confounders from literature, and these are age and gender even though they were not statistically significant. Results of the final model, with confounders, are presented in Table 8.

Variables	AOR		∕₀CI	P-value	
Age (years)	1.01	0.98	1.04	0.42	
Gender					
Female	Ref				
Male	1.20	0.53	2.74	0.66	
AACVPR Risk Category					
Low risk	Ref				
Moderate risk	12.71	7.81	20.68	<0.001	
High risk	10.60	6.44	17.44	<0.001	
PCI					
No	Ref				
Yes	0.39	0.17	0.89	0.03	
CABG					
No	Ref				
Yes	0.49	0.19	1.28	0.14	
Musculoskeletal diseases					
No	Ref				
Yes	0.15	0.06	0.5	0.003	

 Table 7 Multivariable Logistic Regression to Determine Predictors of Adherence

 (Adjusted Association)

P-value<0.05 is significant. AACVPR, American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation. PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting

5.5 Adherence association with change in risk factors from pre to post CR program

Initially, a paired t-test was run to determine whether there was a statistically significant mean difference between patients' clinical measures before and after the program (3 months follow up) in both groups separately [adherence and non-adherence. As shown in table 8, there was a statistically significant mean difference for all clinical measures, including BMI, LDL, HDL, cholesterol, and SBP (p-value <0.001, for all). The mean SBP had the most significant change from pre to post CR program,130.35±18.65 to 124.98±15.81, respectively, among the adhered group.

Table 10 shows the change in measures between adherents and non-adherents in addition to the total mean difference between groups. The result revealed that the mean difference between groups were BMI (-0.34, 95%CI= -1.113-0.44), HDL (-0.004,95%CI= -0.65-0.05), LDL (0.008,95%CI= -0.14-0.16) and SBP (-1.62,95%CI= -4.37-1.11). Additionally, the independent samples t-test results revealed that there was no statistically significant difference in the means though there was a mean change pre and post the program.

Table 8 and 9 demonstrates the change and percentage of change in clinical measures among the adherent and non adherent group afte program completion. The result showed improvements in all measures. Specifically, there was a 10% reduction in total cholesterol level [95%CI= -0.31- -0.50] and a 15% reduction in LDL level [95%CI= -0.22- -0.40]. Among non adherent group, A 16% reduction was found in LDL level level [95%CI= -0.19- -0.44], compared to adherent group it is is considered better reduction eventhough it's a reduction difference by 1% only.

Measures	Adherence							
	Pre	P-value	% change					
BMI (Kg/m ²)	29.18±5.36	27.63±5.23	-0.54±2.40	-0.29	-0.80	<0.001	-1.8%	
LDL (mmol/L)	1.95±0.93	1.26 ± 0.78	-0.31±0.86	-0.22	-0.40	<0.001	-15%	
HDL (mmol/L)	1.06±0.31	0.92 ± 0.29	-0.13±0.26	-0.10	-0.16	<0.001	-12%	
Cholesterol(mmol/L)	3.66±1.09	3.26±0.74	-0.40 ± 0.89	-0.31	-0.50	<0.001	-10%	
SBP (mm Hg)	130.35±18.65	124.98±15.81	-5.36±17.33	-3.53	-7.20	<0.001	-4%	
Values are expressed as mean ± stand confidence interval	lard deviation. P-value<0.03	5 is significant. BMI, bo	ody mass index; LDL, low-densit	y lipoprotein; HDL	, high-density lipop	rotein; SBP, systolic bl	ood pressure; 95%CI=	

Table 8 Change in Clinical Measures Among Adherent group

Table 9 Change in Clinical Measures Among Adherent group

Measures	Non-adherence						
	Pre	Post	Mean difference	95%	6 CI	P-value	% change
BMI (Kg/m ²)	28.07±5.03	27.62±5.23	-0.44±2.09	-0.16	-0.73	0.002	-1.5%
LDL (mmol/L)	1.95 ± 1.02	1.63 ± 1.51	-0.32±0.93	-0.19	-0.44	<0.001	-16%
HDL (mmol/L)	1.03 ± 0.44	0.90 ± 0.32	-0.13±0.44	-0.06	-0.19	<0.001	-12%
Cholesterol(mmol/L)	3.62 ± 1.25	3.28 ± 0.92	-0.33±0.96	-0.20	-0.47	<0.001	-9.1%
SBP (mm Hg)	125.4 ± 15.85	121.7 ± 12.90	-3.74±13.41	-1.91	-5.56	<0.001	-2.9%

Values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation. P-value<0.05 is significant. BMI, body mass index; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; SBP, systolic blood pressure

Measure	Mean difference between groups		95%CI	P-value
BMI (Kg/m ²)	-0.34	-1.13	0.433	0.38
LDL (mmol/L)	0.008	-0.14	0.16	0.90
HDL (mmol/L)	-0.004	-0.65	0.05	0.89
Cholesterol(mmol/L)	0.03	-0.12	0.19	0.68
SBP (mm Hg)	-1.62	-4.37	1.11	0.24
Values are expressed as mean ± standard of	leviation. P-value<0.05 is significant. BMI, body mass index; LD	L, low-density lipoprotein	n; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; SBP, sy	stolic blood pressure; 95%CI= confidence
interval				

Table 10 Mean Change between Adherent and Non-adherent group

5.6 CVD risk factors and its association with number of sessions attended in CR program

Table 11 shows the association between change in BMI (outcome) and patient factors. the unadjusted BMI model (univariate model) had a β coefficients of (β =0.0027). When adjusting for age, this led to a reduction of 55.5% in β coefficients and it became (β =0.0012). We then adjusted for gender(β =0.0016) that showed a reduction of 40.7%, then we added risk level to adjust for in our model we noticed a reduction of 174 in beta coefficients (β =-0.0020), PCI and a reduction of 170 and the coefficient was (β =-0.0019), when adjusting for CABG(β =-0.0039) we had a reduction of 244 compared to the unadjusted model, diabetes(β =-0.0053) with a reduction of269, when adjusting for CAD that showed a reduction of 274 in the coefficients (β =-0.0047), and finally we adjusted for smoking and the β coefficients was (β =-0.005) with a reduction of 285. All of these 11 models we have in table 11 had a very low R² which mean the explanatory variables does not explain the variability in the outcome.

Table 12 shows the association between cholesterol and main explanatory variable (number of sessions) adjusting for well-known variables to compare the change in each model. Compared to the unadjusted model(β =-0.0064), multiple model adjusting for age showed a reduction in beta coefficient by -4.7(β =-0.0067) adjusting for more variables, R² increased somehow however the increase was not that huge as the model explanatory variable did not explain the variability in the outcome (only 1% is explained). We then kept on adding more variables that were reported in literature to be associated with the outcome. Thus, we adjusted for risk level (β =-0.0083, -29.6

reduction), PCI(β =-0.0081, -26.56), CABG(-0.0084, -31.25 reduction compared to unadjusted model), Musckelotal disease (β =-0.0088, -37.5 reduction), Smoking(β =-0.0078, -21.8 reduction), and when adjusting for diabetes and CAD same reduction was experience in beta coefficient (β =-0.009, -40.6 reduction).

Table 13 and 14 shows the results of our last two outcomes high density lipoprotein (HDL) and low density lipoprotein (LDL) against the number of attended sessions adjusting for patients factors one at a time. In HDL when adjusting for age and gender they had the same effect as beta coefficients did not change much (β =-0.0017) compared to the unadjusted model. we kept adding to the model without having extreme changes in beta coefficient until the final multiple model were, we had (β =-0.007, -53.3 reduction) after adding CAD variable. As for LDL, the highest beta coefficient reduction was explained when adding CAD variable in which (β =-0.0052, -29.03 reduction) compared to unadjusted model that had a (β =-0.0074).

Even though we are adding more variable to our four models, still we can notice R^2 to be very low which could be explained that other important variables not included in our study is needed to explain the variability in the outcome. Additionally, all of the models did not have any statistically significant change in CVD.

Table 11 Association of Number	of Sessions Attended	with Chamge in BMI	(adjusted and u	nadjusted models)
		0		J /

BMI	β	β%	95%CI		P-	R ²
	•	change			value	
Main model (BMI+ Number of attended sessions)	0.0027	N/A	-0.0202	0.0257	0.8160	0.0001
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age	0.0012	55.5	-0.0222	0.0246	0.9210	0.0009
BMI + Number of attended sessions + Age + Gender	0.0016	40.7	-0.0219	0.0250	0.8960	0.0039
BMI+ Number of attended sessions + Age +Gender +Nationality	0.0014	48.1	-0.0220	0.0248	0.9070	0.0045
BMI +Number of attended sessions +Age +Gender+ Nationality+ Risk level	-0.0020	174	-0.0348	0.0309	0.9070	0.0046
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender +Nationality +Risk level+		170				
PCI	-0.0019		-0.0348	0.0310	0.9090	0.0046
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age +Gender +Nationality +Risk level+		244				
PCI+ CABG	-0.0039		-0.0368	0.0291	0.8180	0.0105
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk level+		269.3				
PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases	-0.0053		-0.0383	0.0278	0.7550	0.0122
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality +Risk level+		269.3				
PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes	-0.0053		-0.0384	0.0278	0.7550	0.0122
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk level+		274				
PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes + CAD	-0.0047		-0.0380	0.0286	0.7810	0.0124
BMI+ Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk level+		285				
PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes+ CAD+ Smoking	-0.0050		-0.0384	0.0284	0.7690	0.0125
*PCI; Percutaneous Coronary Intervention CABG; Coronary artery bypass grafting, CAD; Coronary artery disease						

Table 12 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in Cholesterol (adjusted and unadjusted models)

Cholesterol	β	β% change	nge 95%CI P-		Р-	R ²
	•	• •			value	
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions	-0.0064	N/A	-0.0156	0.0028	0.1750	0.0033
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age	-0.0067	-4.7	-0.0161	0.0027	0.1640	0.0035
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions + Age + Gender	-0.0068	-6.3	-0.0162	0.0026	0.1560	0.0062
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions + Age +Gender +Nationality	-0.0069	-7.8	-0.0163	0.0025	0.1490	0.0084
Cholesterol +Number of attended sessions +Age +Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-29.6				
level	-0.0083		-0.0215	0.0049	0.2160	0.0101
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender + Nationality + Risk		-26.56				
level+ PCI	-0.0081		-0.0213	0.0051	0.2280	0.0112
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age +Gender +Nationality +Risk		-31.25				
level+ PCI+ CABG	-0.0084		-0.0217	0.0048	0.2100	0.0123
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-37.5%				
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases	-0.0088		-0.0221	0.0045	0.1930	0.0131
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality +Risk		-40.6				
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes	-0.0090		-0.0223	0.0042	0.1820	0.0153
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-40.6				
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes + CAD	-0.0080		-0.0214	0.0053	0.2390	0.0189
Cholesterol + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-21.8				
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes+ CAD+ Smoking	-0.0078		-0.0212	0.0056	0.2520	0.0193
*PCI; Percutaneous Coronary Intervention CABG; Coronary artery bypass grafting, CAD; Coronary art	ery disease					

Table 13 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in HDL (adjusted and unadjusted models)

HDL	β	β % change	95%CI		P-value	R ²	
HDL + Number of attended sessions	-0.0015	N/A	-0.0051	0.0020	0.3990	0.0013	
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age	-0.0017	-13.33	-0.0054	0.0019	0.3560	0.0017	
HDL + Number of attended sessions + Age + Gender	-0.0017	-13.33	-0.0053	0.0020	0.3630	0.0023	
HDL + Number of attended sessions + Age +Gender +Nationality	-0.0018	-20	-0.0054	0.0019	0.3470	0.0058	
HDL +Number of attended sessions +Age +Gender+ Nationality+ Risk level	-0.0011	-26.6	-0.0062	0.0040	0.6810	0.0094	
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender +Nationality +Risk	-0.0011	-26.6	-0.0062	0.0040	0.6720	0.0096	
level+ PCI							
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age +Gender +Nationality +Risk	-0.0010	-33.3	-0.0061	0.0042	0.7140	0.0110	
level+ PCI+ CABG							
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk	-0.0011	-26.67	-0.0062	0.0041	0.6880	0.0114	
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases							
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality +Risk	-0.0011	-26.67	-0.0063	0.0041	0.6720	0.0122	
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes							
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk	-0.0007	-53.3	-0.0059	0.0044	0.7790	0.0153	
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes + CAD							
HDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk	-0.0008	-46.6	-0.0060	0.0044	0.7510	0.0160	
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes+ CAD+ Smoking							
*HDL; high density lipoprotein PCI; Percutaneous Coronary Intervention CABG; Coronary artery bypass grafting, CAD; Coronary artery disease							

Table 14 Association of Number of Sessions Attended with Chamge in LDL (adjusted and unadjusted models)

LDL	β	β % change	95%CI		P-value	R ²		
LDL + Number of attended sessions	-0.0074	N/A	-0.0163	0.0015	0.1040	0.0048		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age	-0.0075	-1.35	-0.0166	0.0016	0.1060	0.0048		
LDL + Number of attended sessions + Age + Gender	-0.0075	-1.35	-0.0166	0.0016	0.1080	0.0049		
LDL + Number of attended sessions + Age +Gender +Nationality	-0.0076	-2.7	-0.0167	0.0015	0.1010	0.0083		
LDL +Number of attended sessions +Age +Gender+ Nationality+ Risk level	-0.0084	-13.51	-0.0211	0.0043	0.1930	0.0171		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender +Nationality +Risk		-12.16						
level+ PCI	-0.0083		-0.0210	0.0044	0.2000	0.0175		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age +Gender +Nationality +Risk		-5.41						
level+ PCI+ CABG	-0.0078		-0.0206	0.0049	0.2290	0.0201		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-4.05						
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases			-0.0205	0.0051	0.2390	0.0202		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality +Risk		-2.7						
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes	-0.0076		-0.0204	0.0053	0.2480	0.0210		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-29.7						
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes + CAD	-0.0052		-0.0180	0.0076	0.4220	0.0406		
LDL + Number of attended sessions+ Age+ Gender+ Nationality+ Risk		-27.03						
level+ PCI+ CABG+ Musckelotal diseases+ Diabetes+ CAD+ Smoking	-0.0054		-0.0182	0.0074	0.4070	0.0410		
*LDL; low density lipoprotein PCI; Percutaneous Coronary Intervention CABG; Coronary artery bypass grafting, CAD; Coronary artery disease								

CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION

6.1 Patient adherence

The present study examined patients' factors associated with adherence to cardiac rehabilitation program and change in cardiac risk factors. Findings concerning patient factors associated with adherence to CR program were aligned with other published studies and literature. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that investigated patients' factors associated with enrollment and adherence in Qatar.

Variations in adherence rate could be due to different definitions of adherence as there is no standard definition in terms of the number of sessions attended by the patients. However, the median number of sessions has been used in literature for patient adherence(32). The median number of sessions (22 sessions) attended by our cohort is comparable to the median number of 21, and 25 sessions attended in published studies in the USA, where a standard program consists of 36 exercise sessions(10, 31, 32). Additionally, the program in Qatar follows the North American guidelines with 36 sessions for program completion.

Patients factors found to be positively associated with adherence were age, nationality, risk level, being diabetic, undergoing CABG procedure, and having coronary artery disease. These factors were consistent with other patients factors associated with adherence and reported in other studies findings(32, 34, 48).

Our finidings revealed that only 11% of Qatari adhered to the program compared to 89% non Qatrai. This high variation between Qatari and non Qatari might be explained due to the fact that Qatri have portable health insurance that they can seek treatment outside the country, i.e. the insurance company covers most of the expenses. Adding to this and based on the insight of one health care providers working in governmental hospoital in Qatar, he stated that in general, Qatari patients do not adher to their appointments or services provided by the healthcare system because of delays in the appointments or any services provideded. Moreover, the change in their physiscians they used to follow up may play a role of nonadherence. For example a ptient will follow up with a consultant and when he comes for the next follow up appointment he will be surprised to see another physiscan (specialist or resident physisans). He also added that waiting list fo certin procedures is a huge issue for Qatari, especially for at-high risk patients. Since these patients know their risk conditions, they are worried and don't wait rather they travel abroad, where they do a full assessment and seek treatment for the condition. Finally, some Qatari patients who travel abroad think that outside health services is better but it is not necessirealy the case. Peninsula one of the most well known electronic newspaper in Qatar, reported that, despite huge investments in healthcare, a growing number of Qataris are seeking treatment abroad, costing the government \$329.6 million (QR1.2bn) in 2012 – which is more than double what it spent two years ago (49). We believe that research is needed for a better understanding of why Qatari travel abroad for treatment. The aforementioned suggested explanation was based on personal experience of a healthcare provider not a well established research.

Regarding predictors of adherence, most studies found combinations of variables to be related (32, 36, 48, 50). Patient factors that were negatively associated with adherence in our study included PCI and musculoskeletal disease. These findings are consistent with other studies(48, 50). The reason PCI might be negatively associated with adhereance could be due to the fact that the majority of PCI patients in our study are of low risk. And based on literature, they might perceive themselves as not a risk group thus no need for them to take exercise sessions under supervision of CR staff so they most likely continue exercising at home(51). Wherase for patients with musckelotal diseases, they do not adhere to CR program as they are mostly not advised to enter CR due to the complication. Having musckelotal diseases limit the ability to do moderate exercise. Additionally, a low CR adherance rate is expected in patients with pain and those with movement difficulty, but this depends on the degree of pain and severity of movement difficulty that our patients could have more severe conditions. Thus, it may be the reason for being negatively associated with adherence (52).

Further, in our final predicted model for adherence, the risk category was a strong predictor for adherence. This finding is supported by other studies (32). In general, patients with higher risk levels, are prescribed more number of sessions to assist them towards recovering their cardiac health as well as resuming their regular daily activities. However, the odds ratio for both risk levels was large with a wide range of confidence intervals, which indicates large variability in these predictors.

A plausible reason could be the large variation in the number of sessions attended by the high-risk patients; some patients attended sessions up to 67 sessions which is more than the maximum range found in literature which is 36 sessions. Looking at our data, the range of attended sessions among the high-risk group was [5 to 67] sessions, moderate risk group ranged between [5 to 40] sessions, and low-risk group [5 to35] session as patients in the program were allowed to take more than the prescribed session as long as it is safe to remove the electrocardiography (ECG) monitoring during exercise. Importantly, the program was free regardless of the number of sessions attended by patients, which may have an essential role in attending more sessions, especially among patients who did not have a job or retired.

6.2 Change in CVD risk factors

Our study showed a significant mean change for each of the patient's clinical measures pre-post the program, including body mass index, systolic blood pressure, LDL, HDL, and cholesterol. These results are similar to findings of other studies (38, 53) to CR. The paired t-test showed a significant difference in cardiac risk factors among the non-adherent group as well.

We ended up having equal reduction in both groups which further confirm adherence does not play a role in this reduction. This could be due to the lack of critical patient data in our study affecting adherence e.g., social support, educational level, transportation, employment, marital status, family support, and medication. More informative results on factors associated with adherence would be revealed if these variables been involved.

Additionally, the independent samples t-test results revealed that the association between adherence, attending at least 22 sessions, and the mean change for each of the clinical measure was not statistically significant, i.e., attending more sessions was not a predictor for the change in any of these clinical measures: cholesterol, BMI, SBP, LDL, and HDL. Additionally when conductin the analysis using multiple linear regression with the number of sessions attednd, all of the model did not show any statisticall significant change in CVD risk factors. The small sample size could explain this statistically insignificant result in both groups. Further, it seems other variables, not captured in our data, contributed to this change as mentioned previously such as medication, patient lifestyle, and duration of the program. Further research should be conducted to interpret the change in clinical measures.

Even though these results were not statistically significant, clinical

improvements was noted in total cholesterol levels and LDL. In our study, reduction in cholesterol was of clinical significance among the adherent group, with a reduction of 10%. This result was supported by literature where a previous meta-analysis reported that a reduction of 10% in total cholesterol is associated with a significant reduction of 15% in coronary heart disease-related mortality and a reduction of 11% in the risk of all-cause mortality (39, 54). In our study there was a reduction of 15% in LDL level. A systematic review and meta-analysis showed that a reduction of 7.2% in LDL is clinically significant in reducing coronary heart deaths, and a reduction of 4.4% in total LDL level is associated with a reduction in total deaths (40).

Among non adherent group, LDL showed a clinically significant reduction of 16% wich is 1% higher than adherent group. This reduction could be explained that non adhering patients have better educational level, married or they had a netweok support by their spouse who might have encouraged them to adher to medications as well as supporting their belovedemotionally and socially home, or it could be that non-adherents had healthy habits, or were knowledge seekers; once they had the information on how to exercise, they prefer to implement at home.

The qualitative study done in Qatar showed the major reason for not attending the sessions is because people believe they can do these exercises at home and take good care of themselves(13) this could also justify why non adherent group had this good reduction in LDL level.

6.3 Strength and limitations

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study conducted in Qatar to establish an association between patients' factors and adherence to CR program. Therefore, our study provided essential information about the characteristics of nonnon-adherent patients eligible to the CR program in Qatar. The study has few limitations that findings should be interpreted with caution. First, the nature of the data and study design (cross sectional) that cannot establish a causation between adherence and improvement. Second, lack of critical patient data affecting adherence (e.g., social support, educational level, transportation, employment, marital status, family support, physical activity, and medication) could affect the change in risk factors as well as adherence, i.e.ore informative results on factors associated with adherence would be revealed if these variables been involved (32, 48, 50, 55-59). Finally, Systolic blood pressure readings were only pre/post the program without having continuous reading throuought the program. Thus it was challenging to assess the change in SBP with the number of sessions attended.

CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION

In summary, the current study unveiled just the tip of the iceberg of patient factors associated with enrollment in and adherence to CR program, along with the change in clinical cardiac measures [risk factors].

In conclusion, patient factors predicting adherence were percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), musculoskeletal disease, and AVVCPR risk category. Factors positively associated with enrollment were nationality, coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), and coronary artery disease (CAD), whereas factors negatively associated with enrollment were back pain, diabetes mellitus, body mass index, and hypertension. Cholesterol and low-density lipoproteins had a clinical improvement among adhered patients with 10% and 15% reduction, respectively. These patient-level variables associated with enrollment and adherence represent opportunities for targeted interventions to improve CR enrollment and adherence to get the benefit of the program.

7.1 Recommendation and research implications

Cardiac rehabilitation is a guideline-recommended strategy structured for the management of CVD. Despite its well-documented benefits, it is vastly underutilized. The current findings add to a growing body of literature on patient factors associated with adherence to the program to help policy makers tailoring their resources and effort in addressing these patients to get the benefit of adhering to the CR program including reduction in morbidity and mortality.

Research is needed to understand patient factors associated with enrollment in the program as we were unable to assess it due to lack of data. We recommend to reconduct this study to identify variables associated with enrollment as well as reconducting this study but includingcritical variables associated with adherence, such as education, employment status, social support, and social status. Additionally, we recommend the program directors to adopt strategies that underline a longer follow up of patients after discharge, so other studies can be conducted to identify benefit of CR program on hard outcome like mortality. A combination of quantitative and qualitative research on why people drop out of the program or what could be the reasons Qatari patients do not adhere to such programs could be a good future study in this area. Finally, a systematic reporting method to report patient's data in the Cerner is highly recommended to generate data of good quality that can be used for conducting future research to evaluate the effectiveness of the program.

REFERENCES

1. Federation WH. Risk factors 2017 [Available from: https://www.world-heart-federation.org/resources/risk-factors/.

2. health Mop. Qatar public health strategy 2017-2022.

3. World Health O. Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2014. 2014.

4. WHO. World Heart Day 2017 [Available from:

http://www.who.int/cardiovascular_diseases/world-heart-day-2017/en/.

5. GACD. Chronic diseases fact sheet 2014 [Available from:

https://www.gacd.org/research/what-are-ncds/chronic-diseases-fact-sheet.

6. Turk-Adawi K, Sarrafzadegan N, Fadhil I, Taubert K, Sadeghi M, Wenger NK, et al. Cardiovascular disease in the Eastern Mediterranean region: epidemiology and risk factor burden. Nature Reviews Cardiology. 2017;15:106.

7. Organization Wh. WHO, Qatar statistical profile. 2018.

8. Balady GJ, Williams MA, Ades PA, Bittner V, Comoss P, Foody JM, et al. Core components of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs: 2007 update: A scientific statement from the american heart association exercise, cardiac rehabilitation, and prevention committee, the council on clinical cardiology; the councils on cardiovascular nursing, epidemiology and prevention, and nutrition, physical activity, and metabolism; and the american association of cardiovascular and pulmonary rehabilitation. Circulation. 2007;115(20):2675-82.

9. Anderson L, Oldridge N, Thompson DR, Zwisler AD, Rees K, Martin N, et al. Exercise-Based Cardiac Rehabilitation for Coronary Heart Disease: Cochrane Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(1):1-12.

60

10. Hammill BG, Curtis LH, Schulman KA, Whellan DJ. Relationship between cardiac rehabilitation and long-term risks of death and myocardial infarction among elderly Medicare beneficiaries. Circulation. 2010;121(1):63-70.

11. De Melo Ghisi GL, Oh P, Benetti M, Grace SL. Barriers to cardiac rehabilitation use in Canada versus Brazil. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2013;33(3):173-9.

12. Turk-Adawi K, Sarrafzadegan N, Grace SL. Global availability of cardiac rehabilitation. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2014;11(10):586-96.

13. Al-Ashwal NA, Critchley K, Kathleen, Benjamin. Cardiac rehabilitation programs: An investigation into the

reasons for non-attendance in Qatar 2017 [Available from:

https://journal.innohealthed.com/index.php/ighpe/article/view/58/69.

14. WHO. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) 2018 [Available from:

http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds).

15. Alwan A. The United Nations political declaration on noncommunicable diseases:are countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region ready to respond? EasternMediterranean Health Journal. 2013;19(9):757.

16. Aljefree N, Ahmed F. Prevalence of cardiovascular disease and associated risk factors among adult population in the Gulf region: a systematic review. Advances in Public Health. 2015;2015.

17. Bener A, Al-Suwaidi J, Al-Jaber K, Al-Marri S, Elbagi IEA. Epidemiology of hypertension and its associated risk factors in the Qatari population. Journal of human hypertension. 2004;18(7):529.

Truong Donnelly T, Al Suwaidi JM, Alqahtani A, Assad N, Abdul Qader N,
 Byrne C, et al. Study exploring depression and cardiovascular diseases amongst
Arabic speaking patients living in the State of Qatar: Rationale and methodology. Global Cardiology Science and Practice. 2013;2012(2):24.

Mampuya WM. Cardiac rehabilitation past, present and future: an overview.
 Cardiovascular Diagnosis and Therapy; Vol 2, No 1 (March 2012): Cardiovascular
 Diagnosis and Therapy. 2012.

20. Singh VN, Schocken DD. History and Definition of Cardiac Rehabilitation 2015 [Available from: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/319683-overview#a2.

21. Bethell HJ. Cardiac rehabilitation: from Hellerstein to the millennium. Int J Clin Pract. 2000;54(2):92-7.

22. Piepoli MF, Corrà U, Benzer W, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Dendale P, Gaita D, et al.
Secondary prevention through cardiac rehabilitation: from knowledge to
implementation. A position paper from the Cardiac Rehabilitation Section of the
European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. European
Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation. 2010;17(1):1-17.
23. Smith SC, Allen J, Blair SN, Bonow RO, Brass LM, Fonarow GC, et al.

AHA/ACC Guidelines for Secondary Prevention for Patients With Coronary and Other Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease: 2006 Update: Endorsed by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2006;47(10):2130-9.

24. Qcrc1. Mohammed Al Hashemi - Rehabilitation programme; the Qatar experience. 2013.

25. Australia NHFo. Recommended framework for cardiac rehabilitation.
26. Hospital H. Cardiac Rehabilitation Phase II: Intake Criteria, Core Components, Duration, Discharge. Cardiac rehabilitation program; 2013.

27. British Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and R. The BACPR Standards and Core Components for Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Rehabilitation 2012: BACPR; 2012.

28. Price KJ, Gordon BA, Bird SR, Benson AC. A review of guidelines for cardiac rehabilitation exercise programmes: is there an international consensus? European journal of preventive cardiology. 2016;23(16):1715-33.

29. Silva AK, Barbosa MP, Bernardo AF, Vanderlei FM, Pacagnelli FL, Vanderlei LC. Cardiac risk stratification in cardiac rehabilitation programs: a review of protocols. Rev Bras Cir Cardiovasc. 2014;29(2):255-65.

30. Supervia M, Turk-Adawi K, Lopez-Jimenez F, Pesah E, Ding R, Britto RR, et al.

Nature of cardiac rehabilitation around the globe. EClinicalMedicine. 2019;13:46-56.

31. Suaya JA, Stason WB, Ades PA, Normand SL, Shepard DS. Cardiac rehabilitation and survival in older coronary patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54(1):25-33.

32. Turk-Adawi KI, Oldridge NB, Tarima SS, Stason WB, Shepard DS. Cardiac rehabilitation patient and organizational factors: what keeps patients in programs? J Am Heart Assoc. 2013;2(5):e000418.

33. Turk-Adawi K, Sarrafzadegan N, Grace SL. Global Availability of Cardiac Rehabilitation. Nature reviews Cardiology. 2014;11(10):586-96.

34. Turk-Adawi KI, Oldridge NB, Tarima SS, Stason WB, Shepard DS. Cardiac rehabilitation enrollment among referred patients: patient and organizational factors. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2014;34(2):114-22.

35. Turk-Adawi KI, Terzic C, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Grace SL. Cardiac rehabilitation in Canada and Arab countries: comparing availability and program characteristics. BMC health services research. 2015;15(1):521. 36. Cooper AF, Jackson G, Weinman J, Horne R. Factors associated with cardiac rehabilitation attendance: a systematic review of the literature. Clin Rehabil. 2002;16(5):541-52.

37. Pio CSdA, Chaves G, Davies P, Taylor R, Grace S. Interventions to Promote Patient Utilization of Cardiac Rehabilitation: Cochrane Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of clinical medicine. 2019;8(2):189.

38. Turk-Adawi KI, Oldridge NB, Vitcenda MJ, Tarima SS, Grace SL. Secondary Prevention Recommendation Attainment with Cardiac Rehabilitation: Is There a Gender Disparity? Womens Health Issues. 2016;26(3):278-87.

39. Gould AL, Rossouw JE, Santanello NC, Heyse JF, Furberg CD. Cholesterol reduction yields clinical benefit: impact of statin trials. Circulation. 1998;97(10):946-52.

40. Briel M, Ferreira-Gonzalez I, You JJ, Karanicolas PJ, Akl EA, Wu P, et al. Association between change in high density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality: systematic review and metaregression analysis. Bmj. 2009;338:b92.

41. Doll JA, Hellkamp A, Thomas L, Ho PM, Kontos MC, Whooley MA, et al. Effectiveness of cardiac rehabilitation among older patients after acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J. 2015;170(5):855-64.

42. Pack QR, Johnson LL, Barr LM, Daniels SR, Wolter AD, Squires RW, et al. Improving cardiac rehabilitation attendance and completion through quality improvement activities and a motivational program. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2013;33(3):153-9. 43. Wise FM, Harris DW, Carter LM. Validation of the Cardiac Depression Scale in a cardiac rehabilitation population. J Psychosom Res. 2006;60(2):177-83.

44. Birks Y, Roebuck A, Thompson DR. A validation study of the Cardiac

Depression Scale (CDS) in a UK population. Br J Health Psychol. 2004;9(Pt 1):15-24.

45. Braunwald E. A textbook of cardiovascular medicine. Examination of the patient. 1992.

46. MET Levels 2014 [Available from: https://passtheot.com/met-levels/.

47. Bursac Z, Gauss CH, Williams DK, Hosmer DW. Purposeful selection of variables in logistic regression. Source Code Biol Med. 2008;3:17.

48. Gaalema DE, Savage PD, Rengo JL, Cutler AY, Elliott RJ, Priest JS, et al. Patient Characteristics Predictive of Cardiac Rehabilitation Adherence. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2017;37(2):103-10.

49. Peninsula. Spending on overseas healthcare for Qatari nationals more than doubles in two

vears 2012 [Available from: https://thepeninsulaqatar.com/latest-news/217591-

concern-over-huge-overseas-health-bill.html.

50. Yohannes AM, Yalfani A, Doherty P, Bundy C. Predictors of drop-out from an outpatient cardiac rehabilitation programme. Clin Rehabil. 2007;21(3):222-9.

51. Al Quait A, Doherty P, Gutacker N, Mills J. In the modern era of percutaneous coronary intervention: Is cardiac rehabilitation engagement purely a patient or a service level decision? Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2017;24(13):1351-7.

52. Pola MS, Inojosa JRM, Terzic CM, Goel K, Vickers D, Kristin S, et al. The Prevalence of Musculoskeletal Limitations and Its Effect on Cardiac Rehabilitation Participation: A Cross-Sectional Survey. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2016;97(10):e75. 53. Kunjan K, Thakur JS, Vijayvergiya R, Rohit MK, Kohli A, Oh P, et al.

Effectiveness of cardiac rehabilitation in patients with myocardial infarction and percutaneous coronary intervention at a tertiary care hospital: A pilot intervention study. International Journal of Noncommunicable Diseases. 2018;3(3):104.

54. Turk-Adawi KI, Oldridge NB, Vitcenda MJ, Tarima SS, Grace SL. Secondary prevention recommendation attainment with cardiac rehabilitation: is there a gender disparity? Women's Health Issues. 2016;26(3):278-87.

55. Daly J, Sindone AP, Thompson DR, Hancock K, Chang E, Davidson P. Barriers to participation in and adherence to cardiac rehabilitation programs: a critical literature review. Progress in cardiovascular nursing. 2002;17(1):8-17.
56. Soleimani A, Abbasi A, Nejatian M, Salarifar M, Darabian S, Karimi AA, et al. Original article Factors predicting discontinuation of a hospital-based cardiac rehabilitation programme. Kardiologia Polska (Polish Heart Journal). 2009;67(2):140-6.

57. Sanderson BK, Shewchuk RM, Bittner V. Cardiac rehabilitation and women: what keeps them away? J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2010;30(1):12-21.

58. Galdas PM, Harrison AS, Doherty P. Gender differences in the factors predicting initial engagement at cardiac rehabilitation. Open heart. 2018;5(1):e000764.
59. Bennett KK, Smith AJ, Harry KM, Clark JMR, Waters MA, Umhoefer AJ, et al. Multilevel Factors Predicting Cardiac Rehabilitation Attendance and Adherence in Underserved Patients at a Safety-Net Hospital. Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention. 2019;39(2):97-104.

APPENDIX

Appendix A: HMC IRB Approval

	MEDICAL RESEARCH CENTER HMC, DOHA-GATAR		
Dr. Mohammed Abdulla A A Al-Has Sr. Consultant Department of Cardiology HH- HMC	ihemš Date: 07 March 2010		
Protocol Nu.	MRC-01-18-430		
Study Title:	Factors Affecting Cardiac Rehabilitation Enrolment And Adherence Among Referred Patients in Castar		
The above tilled research study has b	een approved to be conducted in HMC summarized as below:		
Study Type:	Data Review		
Data Collection Period:	01 January 2013 - 01 September 2018		
Hospitals/ Facilities Approved:	Heart Hospital (HH)		
Team Member List:	Dr. Karam I Adawi , Dr. Mohammed Abdulia A A Al-Hashemi , Mr. Daniel Martinez Buteson , Mr. Theodoros Papetawvas , Ms. Emon Faisal , Ms. Rohma Ahmed Saad		
Review Type:	Exempt' under MOPH guidelines "Category 3: Research involving the control of tor study of entiting: Data, documents, records and the information is recursical by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects".		
his study must be conducted in full of NC and the Medical Research Center Rect the 'exempt' status of this sho imponsibility of the Principal Investigat tudy will be allowed to proceed. Hase note that only official, stampod v is study. The research team must emisy return of the Medical Research Center	ompliance with all the relevant sections of the Rules and Regulations for Research a should be notified immediately of any proposed changes to the study protocol, that ma dy. Wherever amendments to the initial protocol are deemed necessary, it is th for to ensure that appropriate reviews and renewed approvals are in place before th reminions of the approved documentation are to be utilized at any stage in the conduct o are that progress in the study is appropriately recorded in ABHATH, the online research		
lie wish you auccess in this research ar	nd assail the outcomes in due course.		
hank you Is. Emma Pondieton Isaistan Directer Besidence Develop	ment and Research		

Appendix B: Heart hospital Approval

Appendix C: Qatar university IRB Approval



Qatar University Institutional Review Board QU-IRB

April 01, 2019

Dr. Kanam Turk-Adawi MPH Graduate Student Supervisor Qatar University Tel: 4403-7508 Email: <u>kadawitifiqu.edu.ga</u>

Dear Dr. Karam Turk-Adawi,

Sub.: Research Ethics Review Exemption / MPH Graduate Student Project Ref.: Student, Rahma A.A. Saad / Email: <u>rs1203827@student.gu.edu.go</u> Project Title: "Factors affecting cardiac rehabilitation adherence and change in cardiovascular risk factors among referred patients in Qatar"

We would like to inform you that your application along with the supporting documents provided for the above graduate student project, has been reviewed by the QU-IRB, and having met all the requirements, has been granted research ethics <u>Exemption</u> based on the following category(ies) listed in the Policies, Begulations and Guideline for Research Involving Human Subjects provided by MoPH:

Category 3: Research involving the collection or study of existing data, documents, records, puthological specimens, or diagnostic specimens, if these sources are publicly available or if the information is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified

Documents reviewed: QU-IR8 Checklist (S1), QU-IR8 Application (FS), Heart Hospital Approval, HMC Approval, MRC Data Collection Sheet, MRC Research Protocol, IR8 review forms, responses to IR8 queries and updated documents.

Please note that exempted projects do not require renewals; however, any changes/modifications to the original submitted protocol should be reported to the committee to seek approval prior to continuation.

Your Research Ethics Approval No. Is: QU-IRB 1039-E/19. Kindly refer to this number in all your future correspondence pertaining to this project. Further, please submit a closure report to QU-IRB upon completion of the project.

Best wishes,

- (blassickakatoloka -

Dr. Ahmed Awaisu Chairperson, QU-IRB



Qatar University-Institutional Review Board (QUJRB), P.D. Box 2713 Doha, Gatar Tel +974 4403-5367 (QM7 +3hrs) email: QU4RB@qu.edu.gs

Appendix D: AACVPR Criteria

AACVPR Stratification Algorithm for Risk of Event

Not specific solely to exercise events.



• Patient is at **HIGH RISK** if ANY ONE OR MORE of the following factors are present:

- Left ventricular ejection fraction < 40%
- Survivor of cardiac arrest or sudden death
- Complex ventricular dysrhythmias (ventricular tachycardia, frequent [> 6/min] multiform PVCs) at rest or with exercise
- MI or cardiac surgery complicated by cardiogenic shock, CHF, and/or signs/symptoms • of post-procedure ischemia
- Abnormal hemodynamics with exercise, especially flat or decreasing systolic blood pressure or chronotropic incompetence with increasing workload
- Significant silent ischemia (ST depression 2mm or greater without symptoms) with • exercise or in recovery
- Signs/symptoms including angina pectoris, dizziness, lightheadedness or dyspnea at • low levels of exercise (< 5.0 METs) or in recovery
- Maximal functional capacity less than 5.0 METs*
- Clinically significant depression or depressive symptoms

2 Patient is at **LOW RISK** if ALL of the following factors are present:

- Left ventricular ejection fraction > 50%
- No resting or exercise-induced complex dysrhythmias
- Uncomplicated MI, CABG, angioplasty, atherectomy, or stent: o Absence of CHF or signs/symptoms indicating post-event ischemia
- Normal hemodynamic and ECG responses with exercise and in recovery •
- Asymptomatic with exercise or in recovery, including absence of angina
- Maximal functional capacity at least 7.0 METs*
- Absence of clinical depression or depressive symptoms

B Patient is at **MODERATE RISK** if they meet neither High Risk nor Low Risk standards:

- Left ventricular ejection fraction = 40–50%
- Signs/symptoms including angina at "moderate" levels of exercise (60-75% of maximal functional capacity) or in recovery
- Mild to moderate silent ischemia (ST depression less than 2mm) with exercise or in • recovery

*If measured functional capacity is not available, this variable can be excluded from the risk stratification process.

Appendix E: MET Levels

Endurance Exercises and Their Metabolic Requirement				
	Metabolic Requirement			
Activity	Intensity Level	METs*	kcal/h	
Walking at 3–5 km/h (2–3 miles/h) Cycling on level terrain at 10 km/h (6 miles/h) Light stretching exercises Swimming (using a float board) Light to moderate housework	Low	2-4	180-300	
Walking at 6 km/h (4 miles/h) Cycling at 13 km/h (8 miles/h) Golf (walking or pulling a cart) Light calisthenics Swimming (treading water) Heavy housework or yard work	Moderate	5-6	300-360	
Walking or jogging at 8 km/h (5 miles/h) Cycling at 18–19 km/h (11–12 miles/h) Swimming (0.8 km [1/2 mile] in 30 min) Recreational tennis Hilking	High	7-8	420-480	
*The oxygen expenditure at rest (> 3.5 mL/min/kg body weight).				
METs = metabolic equivalents.				

Adapted from Hanson PG, et al: Clinical guidelines for exercise training. Postgraduate Medicine 67(1):120–138, 1980. Copyright McGraw-Hill, Inc.